MAY 14 2002

Report of the Second Meeting of the Board

GLOBAL FUND TO FIGHT AIDS, TUBERCULOSIS AND MALARIA

GF/B2/13 version 2 22-24 April 2002

This report is an internal, draft document. No part of it may be circulated, quoted, or reproduced for distribution outside the Global Fund.

Contents

	page
1. Adoption of the agenda	4
2. Designation of rapporteur	6
3. New Board member representatives	6
4. Review of minutes from previous meetings	6
5. First round of proposals for funding	8
5.1 Global challenges and draft Strategic Framework	8
5.2 Report from the secretariat and the TRP	8
5.3A Proposals: Policy Issues – CCM Management	9
5.3B Proposals: Policy Issues – Balancing the portfolio	12
5.3C Proposals: Policy Issues – Eligibility	13
5.3D Proposals: Policy Issues – Resource Allocation	15
5.3E Proposals: Policy Issues – Complex emergencies	17
5.3F Proposals: Policy Issues – Quality of Proposals	17
5.3G Proposals: Policy Issues – Disclosure of information	19
5.4 Proposals: decision on funding	20
5.5 Proposals: lessons learned	26
6. Global Commitment to fight HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria	28

7. Executive Director appointment	29
8. Financial and Programmatic Accountability	29
8.1 Trustee agreement and Fiduciary arrangements	29
8.2 Monitoring and Evaluation	33
8.3 Procurement	34
9. Business plan and budget	36
9.1 Business plan: Structure and staffing of secretariat	36
9.2 Business plan: Workplan and budget	36
9.3 Business plan: Partnerships and other operations	37
10. Quasi Intergovernmental Organization	38
11. Administrative Services Agreement	38
12. Next Board meeting	39
Annex I: Abbreviations of documents	41
Annex II: List of participants	44

The Second Board Meeting of the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria took place at the Mailman School of Public Health at Columbia University in New York City on 22–24 April, 2002.

The purpose of this report is not to present the detailed discussions of the Second Board Meeting but to record the decisions taken. These are organized below in sequential order following the agenda and the sessions held during the meeting. For each session, corresponding presentations are summarized, relevant documents referenced and major issues raised by the Board noted.

Abbreviations used to reference documents are listed in Annex I. The participants in the meeting are listed in Annex II.

1. Adoption of the agenda

The Chair opened the meeting with welcoming remarks to the members of the Board, their delegations and observers. In particular, the Chair welcomed the new Board member representatives from France, Nigeria, the United States and the Private Sector. The Chair also welcomed the many national ministers in attendance at the meeting. Noting the many decisions which would need to be made during the course of the meeting, the Chair proposed a number of guidelines to facilitate the meeting, including limits to the length of interventions, the importance of focusing discussions on decision points, and the use of an informal voting system. The Chair reminded the Board of the scheduled telephone press conference on Thursday morning and encouraged delegations to maintain confidentiality on the Board's deliberations prior to the conclusion of the meeting.

The Chair then asked the Interim Executive Director to introduce the agenda.

Introduction

The Interim Executive Director introduced the agenda and explained the different sessions. He pointed out that each session would include presentations by the Secretariat and refer to documents sent to the Board prior to the meeting and included in the binder distributed at registration. He also suggested that the agenda item "Designation of Rapporteur" be added to the agenda.

Comments

Several representatives requested that the labeling of Board members and constituencies be revised to ensure that the full constituency is referenced rather than the resident country of the appointed Board member. It was agreed that the Secretariat would review names of constituencies and develop a proposal to share with the Board prior to the September Board meeting.

The Interim Executive Director clarified that all seats of the Board are now filled. A request was made that the Eastern and Southern Africa delegation be allowed to maintain a Board seat in addition to the seat of the Chair. This was not approved. It was recommended that the Governance Working Group (see section 12) would include the issue in its discussions.

Responding to requests that the planned session on the Executive Director recruitment process be held earlier than scheduled, the Chair agreed that the presentation scheduled for Tuesday evening be held also on Monday immediately after lunch. However, it was agreed that no discussion on this item would be entertained until the Tuesday evening session.

The Private Sector representative made three specific requests: 1) that a session be held on Wednesday morning to discuss overall issues related to the Fund's governance and the role of the Board, 2) that a session be held to present the document on the role of the private sector prepared by the Secretariat for the First Board Meeting, and 3) that the conflict of interest document referred to in preparatory Board materials be tabled.

Decisions

• 1.1 The Board adopted the agenda as presented in document GF/B2/1 with the amendments of "Designation of Rapporteur" as a new, second agenda item and an additional presentation (without discussion) on the process of recruiting the Executive Director in advance of the discussion on the new ED.

2. Designation of rapporteur

The Chair thanked the Foundation representative, Dr. Helene Gayle, for serving as rapporteur during the First Board Meeting and designated the Private Sector representative, Mr. Rajat Gupta, as rapporteur for the Second Board Meeting.

3. New Board member representatives

Introduction

The Chair welcomed new Board member representatives during his opening remarks.

The delegation of France presented as its representative Mme. Mireille Guigaz, Director of the Department of Development and Technical Cooperation.

The United States named Secretary of Health and Human Services Tommy Thompson as its representative.

For the Private Sector, a new representative was presented: Mr. Rajat Gupta, Managing Director of McKinsey & Company.

The Chair confirmed that West and Central Africa would be represented by Nigeria and that Professor Adetokunbo Lucas would be the Board member (Professor Lucas did not attend the Board meeting).

4. Review of minutes from previous meetings

Introduction

The Chair then moved on to the review of the minutes from previous meetings, referring to the following documents: the Minutes of the First Board meeting

(document GF/B2/3a); the Report from the First Board meeting (GF/B2/3b); and the Minutes of the Special Board meeting (GF/B2/3c).

The Chair reminded the Board that it had had ample opportunity to comment on the minutes, and that comments sent to the Secretariat had been taken into consideration in the preparation of these final drafts.

The Chair pointed to the one outstanding issue, that of multi-lateral staff members being able to serve on the TRP and suggested that the issue not be opened for discussion. He noted that the majority of Board members agreed that United Nations staff members could serve on the TRP in their individual capacities but that this was not the opinion of all members. The Chair suggested that the matter be referred to the working group on the TRP for consideration and asked the Board to adopt the Minutes and to take note of the report as read.

Comments

The NGO Community representative requested the text in document GF/B2/3a be amended as follows: in the section titled "Communication (Document 21)", edit the last sentence to include NGOs and communities as part of the focus of communication.

Decisions

4.1 The Board adopted the minutes of the previous meetings as read with the proviso that the issue of multi-lateral employees to serve on the TRP be considered by the TRP Sub-working Group and brought back for review by the Board at its next meeting. The Board also took note of the longer report as drafted and the amendments suggested by the NGO Community representative to the short version.

5. First round of proposals for funding

The Interim Executive Director introduced the agenda item and explained how the proposal review process would be presented during the session and how the decision-making would be managed, referencing document GF/B2/4a.

5.1 GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND DRAFT STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

Introduction

The Interim Executive Director delivered a presentation on the global health and development challenge as the overarching context for the Fund. The draft strategic framework was presented, including the purpose of the Fund, strategic goals, implementation approach and values. A needs assessment tool was introduced as a possible mechanism to support the Fund's ongoing strategic analysis. The Interim Executive Director discussed the current funding situation, the importance of setting resource mobilization goals, and the need for the Fund to quickly initiate resource mobilization efforts. The documents supporting the presentation include GF/B2/9b, GF/B2/9d, GF/B2/9f and GF/B2/9g.

The Board took note of the presentation and deferred the discussion and decisions to be made in relation to the global challenges and draft strategic framework to the session on the business plan during Wednesday afternoon and to a future Board meeting.

5.2 REPORT FROM THE SECRETARIAT AND THE TRP

Introduction

The Secretariat and the TRP presented their reports on the first round of proposals (referring to document GF/B2/4b), outlining the overall process, the screening criteria applied and the final outcome. The Secretariat Proposal team leader began by

explaining the Secretariat's achievements since the last Board meeting, including issuing the call for proposals, receiving and screening proposals, screening the nominees for the TRP and preparing for the TRP meeting. The Chair of the TRP then elaborated on how the TRP functioned during the first proposal round and what its recommendations to the Board were. A detailed breakdown of the different options and budget requirements was presented.

During the discussion, the Board confirmed that approvals from this and subsequent rounds would be consistent with policies set out in the framework document and guidelines for proposals, stating that proposals must be in line with best practice and showing evidence of political and financial commitment to tackle the three diseases, as well as evidence of national capacity to absorb funding and implement proposals in line with national plans and broader development processes.

5.3A PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES - CCM MANAGEMENT

Introduction

The Interim Executive Director presented a number of policy issues for the Board's consideration, based on the document GF/B2/4c. The first policy issue related to the Country Coordinating Mechanism. To this end, four specific topics were discussed: the possibility of creating sub-regional CCMs for small states; the possibility of creating sub-national CCMs for very large states; the issue of multi-country CCMs; and finally the role of the Secretariat in the validation of the functioning of CCMs.

Comments

Several delegations expressed their gratitude and appreciation of the hard work of the TRP and the Secretariat given the time constraints and heavy and complex workload.

A number of issues generated substantive discussion:

Several delegations expressed their support for the proposal put forward by the Secretariat that small island states be able to submit sub-regional proposals.

Several delegations endorsed the proposal that in large countries sub-national proposals could be submitted provided that these are endorsed by the national authorities and in

line with national policies. However, it was emphasized that wherever possible, preference be given to proposals from national CCMs.

With regards to regional proposals, several delegations stressed the importance of ensuring added value from a regional body as compared to national initiatives or multicountry proposals. Delegations also noted that the CCM concept must remain the main approach and that additional efforts are needed in order to include community organizations when regional proposals are developed. Some delegations pointed out that requiring CCM endorsement from every country covered by a regional CCM could hold up proposals and that a truly regional proposals would not be about programs in each country why such approval might not be appropriate.

There was discussion about international NGOs and how they could access the Global Fund. Some indicated that they could support regional or national efforts, as long as they participated in the appropriate CCM. One interpretation was that such NGOs could not submit proposals directly to the Fund.

The Secretariat clarified the reasoning behind suggesting the Secretariat to be responsible for confirmation of CCMs, rather that the TRP. Information on CCMs will be collected throughout the year by the Secretariat and prior to TRP reviews. Any relevant information would then be shared with the TRP as the review process begins.

A large number of delegations expressed support for the proposal that the Secretariat should take the lead in confirmation of CCMs. In this connection, several important points were raised:

- The Country Coordination Mechanism does not have to be a new mechanism. In most countries the CCM builds on existing mechanism for cooperation, including CCF/UNDAF, PRSP, and UN Theme Groups.
- The importance of including private sector and non-governmental organizations in Country Coordination Mechanisms and enabling publicprivate partnerships were stressed.
- The partners in the Country Coordination Mechanism should be involved in proposal development, monitoring and evaluation, communication and advocacy.

Several delegations proposed the formation of a sub-working group with the task to further define the conceptual framework of the Country Coordination Mechanism and

clarify its composition and responsibilities. The Secretariat suggested that this task be included in the work of the sub-working group to be established to review the guidelines for proposals.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding Country Coordination Mechanisms, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

- 5.3A.1 The Board approved the principle of sub-regional Country Coordination Mechanisms for small countries, based on the small islands state classification of the United Nations.
- 5.3A.2 The Board approved the eligibility of sub-national proposals provided that they are consistent with nationally formulated policies and that there is evidence of a legal framework for the sub-national entity stating its autonomy.
- 5.3A.3 The Board confirmed that regional proposals can be accepted, provided that they clearly add value beyond the national level, include appropriate NGO and other civil society partners, and that they are supported by national Country Coordination Mechanisms.
- 5.3A.4 Confirming that Country Coordination Mechanisms should be inclusive, involving members of civil society and the private sector as partners in preparation, approval and implementation of proposals, in accordance with the guidelines of proposals and stressing the importance of improving their effectiveness and capacity, the Board
 - recognized the Secretariat as the lead advisor to the TRP and to the Board on CCM confirmation, as necessary;
 - instructed the Secretariat to include in the ToR for the TRP subworking group further work on defining the guidelines for CCM composition and suggesting options for documenting or checking their validity;
 - noted the importance of linking this to the development and leverage of partnerships at the country level.

5.3B PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES – BALANCING THE PORTFOLIO

Introduction

The second policy issue presented and discussed related to balancing the portfolio. Two topics were addressed, namely, whether a balance should be sought in each proposal round or over a longer period of time and whether the balance between interventions needed to be evident in each proposal or on an overall country plan level.

Comments

A. Balancing over time versus per round

There was general agreement on the need to balance the Fund's portfolio between regions, diseases and approaches and the Board endorsed the three-year approach proposed by the Secretariat.

The need for a mid-term review in addition to the suggested three-year approach was raised by several delegations. It was suggested that this mid-term review be linked to the earlier discussed needs assessment instrument.

Delegations commented there are other important factors to take into account when discussing balancing, such as balancing of the totality and the poverty situation.

The importance to further stress the Fund's role to attract additional resources, and to complement already existing funds was stressed. The Fund should strive to address the gaps when providing funding.

B. Interpretation of balancing of treatment, care, support and prevention

Some delegations reiterated that balancing of treatment, care, support and prevention in relation to HIV/AIDS, with special emphasis on treatment, is important. Some delegations suggested that countries exclude treatment due to the high cost and that the Fund should be able to respond. Those delegations suggested that to support the main goal of the Fund, countries must be asked why a certain component is not included in their proposal and that the Fund should encourage complete programs and encourage cultural change, supporting treatment as a full-fledged component of programs. Other delegations suggested it was best to let CCMs determine the most appropriate interventions according to their country context. It was also raised that circumstances

are different in different countries and that it is unrealistic to expect that proposals will be all-inclusive both of interventions and for the different diseases.

Delegations also noted that the issue of treatment is politically sensitive, where some delegates felt the issue of balancing of interventions should be left to the individual CCMs.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding balancing the portfolio, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

- 5.3B.1 The Board adopted a three-year approach to balancing the portfolio between regions, diseases and interventions, subject to a mid-term review of balancing after the third round and after ongoing reviews and drawing on existing data from technical partners as well as recommending use of a needs assessment instrument.
- 5.3B.2 The Board adopted an approach regarding the balance of prevention, care, support and treatment whereby if a given proposal can explain and document that a particular intervention is available through other arrangements it is not necessary that this intervention be a part of the proposal. The most appropriate balance of interventions will differ according to country contexts.

5.3C PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES - ELIGIBILITY

Introduction

The Interim Executive Director presented the third policy issue: eligibility. Several points were raised, including whether a cut-off point for country eligibility based on income should be adopted. On this point, the issue of prioritization of middle-income countries was discussed. Further, the special case of vulnerable populations within middle or higher income countries was also discussed.

Comments

A. Eligibility based on income measure

Several delegations supported a clarification of the eligibility criteria linked to national income level. The need to define/clarify the DAC wording was raised, as some delegates were not familiar with the abbreviation. Delegations commented that absorptive capacity and readiness of a country also need to be considered when considering grants, in addition to income level.

A number of delegations called for an increased focus on poverty reduction and that the focus of eligibility should be on poverty and countries in greatest need. The rules/guidelines should therefore be based on the inclusion of ODA eligible countries rather than exclusion of DAC countries. Some delegations raised the issue that their constituencies would find this approach problematic, and that it might have budget implications if the Fund allocated significant resources to high- and middle-income countries.

B. Lower need situations

Most delegations endorsed the Secretariat's suggestion and no major issues were raised.

C. Pockets of poverty or high disease burden

The TRP clarified the issue by referring to countries with relatively high income-level and relatively low disease burden, but with pockets of poverty or disease.

It was suggested to change the wording to not include "NGO" and "CCM", since the focus was on pockets of poverty or high disease burden, rather than the implementing entity. Further, all applications should come from CCMs, other than in exceptional circumstances set out in the framework document.

It was suggested that the Board should accept the proposed broad formulation at this stage and return to the issue after additional TRP work, as the principles would be best defined by practice.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding eligibility, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

- 5.3C.1 The Board reaffirmed the decision that priority be given to proposals from countries in greatest need, as determined by level of poverty and disease burden and that proposals from members of the OECD's Development Assistance Committee (DAC) are not eligible for funding by the Global Fund.
- 5.3C.2 The Board confirmed that proposals from eligible countries in lower need situations will be considered for funding, but will be given lower priority and lower overall allocation relative to those with greater need.
- 5.3C.3 The Board decided that proposals from eligible countries whose overall needs are of lower priority but which focus on particularly vulnerable populations will be considered as specified in 5.3C.2.

5.3D PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES - RESOURCE ALLOCATION

Introduction

The fourth policy issue presented to the Board was resource allocation. More specifically, the issue of the timing of disbursement commitment was addressed, as well as potential funding ranges for each proposal.

Comments

There was general agreement that the Global Fund would approve multi-year proposals for funding, although financial commitments would only be made on a two-year basis with funding for the third and following years dependent on performance assessment as well as the availability of resources. In this connection, a number of delegations expressed concern over proposals with treatment components that could potentially be impacted if continued funding is not assured. It was suggested that special consideration for people undergoing treatment be given during the review and assessment processes.

The issue of funding ranges for proposals was debated. The lower ceiling of USD 100,000, proposed by the Secretariat, was considered too low by several delegations. A number of suggestions were made in the range of USD 300,000 – USD 500,000. In this connection, related issues concerning absorptive capacity in countries, resource gaps, the desire to avoid the need to spend review and management time on small proposals

and the principle of additionality were raised. Delegations also underscored the importance of ensuring that countries are not excluded in any way, and that priority be given to the poorest countries with the highest disease burden.

The Board agreed that there is a need to further clarify the questions of funding ranges, resource gaps, percentage justification and additionality. It was decided that the Secretariat would continue to work on the development of specific guidelines and report back to the Board at its next meeting.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding resource allocation, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

- 5.3D.1 The Board decided that multi-year proposals can be approved. The Fund will allocate funds for a two-year period with funding for the third and following years contingent on a satisfactory performance assessment and the Fund's available resources at that time.
- 5.3D.2 The Board endorsed the importance of additionality with regard to resources made available by the Global Fund relative to other sources of funding. The Board also agreed that it could not at this meeting set specific limits on the amount of funding available for single proposals. As such, the Board requested that the Secretariat further develop recommendations on such limits receiving advice from relevant experts, to be presented at the next meeting.
- 5.3D.3 Noting the desire to ensure economies of scale, to have maximum impact, and not to overburden the operations of the Secretariat and the TRP, the Board agreed to the principle of a lower limit of total requested funds by a single applicant. The Board asked that exceptions to this limit be considered by the TRP on a case-by-case basis. The Board instructed the Secretariat and the TRP sub-working group to further define the exact limit and report back at the next Board meeting.

5.3E PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES - COMPLEX EMERGENCIES

Introduction

The fifth policy issue related to complex emergencies. It was suggested that the Fund follow the declaration of the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs regarding complex emergencies and that a specific decision on each of these cases could be made by the Executive Director after consulting with the Board.

Comments

The delegations expressed strong endorsement of the proposal. It was agreed to accept the suggestion, with the addition of a definition of complex emergencies.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding complex emergencies, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

• 5.3E.1 The Board decided that in the case of complex emergencies – identified by the Secretariat referencing international declarations such as those of the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs – specific decisions on eligibility in each case should be made by the Executive Director in consultation with the Board to avoid delays in proposal review.

5.3F PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES – QUALITY OF PROPOSALS

Introduction

The sixth policy issue presented and discussed related to the quality of proposals. It was noted that the proposals received during the first round were of lower quality than expected. The key reasons identified were linked to time constraints, unclear guidelines, and difficulties at the country level, often in countries with the greatest need. In light of this, several actions to remedy these shortcomings were suggested.

Comments

The discussion on this topic focused on the possible role of the Fund in supporting the development of high-quality proposals and the specific proposed mechanism of a catalytic fund to fulfill that role.

There was general consensus that proposal development at the country level needs additional support, and appreciation of observations to that effect by the TRP. Multiple representatives, however, stressed that the Fund should not actually provide technical assistance nor duplicate existing mechanisms of technical assistance, which were viewed to be plentiful. In seeking to support proposal development, it was noted, the Fund may be trying to take on responsibilities that should be and are better placed in the mandates of other partners, many of which are addressing the need for capacity building and technical assistance.

At the same time, representatives affirmed the need of countries for assistance and guidance specific to the Fund process. If the Fund took no steps to respond to that need, it was suggested, it could act too passively in the interim between requiring and receiving resubmission of proposals.

A specific proposal was made by one representative to leverage the Technical Review Support Group (TRSG) to support needs related to proposal development as well as those of evaluation of implementation. (This representative also requested that greater reference to this group be made in the documents presented to the Board.). However, others noted that it is important to keep both the TRP and the TRSG insulated from design and implementation to avoid any appearance of conflict of interest.

The proposed mechanism, that of an emergency catalytic fund to support proposal development in countries of greatest need, received some support. In countries where technical assistance is not plentiful or available, for example, it was proposed that the Fund could enable capacity building. Still, several representatives expressed concern that the Fund would divert too many resources to such efforts. It was emphasized that the Fund should not create a catalytic fund but rather support a catalytic process.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding the quality of proposals, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

• 5.3F.1 Recognizing the need to ensure high quality proposals from countries in greatest need and noting the existing availability of resources from current partners to work with countries at the local level, the Board requested the Secretariat to recommend at its next meeting specific ways for the Global Fund to support countries where capacity to prepare proposals is less strong both by leveraging existing partnerships and possibly catalyzing new processes.

5.3G PROPOSALS: POLICY ISSUES - DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

Introduction

The seventh and last policy issue related to disclosure of information, specifically what information the Secretariat should disclose and to whom. The Interim Executive Director raised a concern that the confidentiality of the Fund's deliberations and recommendations, especially regarding proposals, had not been maintained.

Comments

The proposals offered by the TRP and Secretariat regarding the disclosure of information related to proposals were endorsed by several Board members. The representative of Northern NGOs agreed in principle but, noting that transparency is crucial to ensure the credibility of the Global Fund and that proposal development was an ongoing learning process, proposed that approved proposals be made available for public perusal. Others were concerned about issues of confidentiality, and that some aspects of successful proposals that might be appropriate in one context might be simply reproduced in another context, thinking the TRP approval would be assured. However, it was agreed that some detail of successful proposals needed to be shared as information to other partners about Global Fund programs in a given country as a way of improving coordination.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding disclosure of information, as introduced in document GF/B2/4c:

19

- 5.3G.1 The Board authorized the Secretariat to share information on the reasoning behind the different decisions taken on proposals only with their authors, other groups that are part of the proposal (e.g. all members of a CCM listed on the CCM certification sheet), and Board Members and their representatives. All others making inquiries about specific proposals would be informed of these guidelines and directed to make their inquiries directly to the proposals' authors.
- 5.3G.2 The Board authorized the Secretariat to share information related to the review process so long as proposal-specific deliberations remain confidential.
- 5.3G.3 The Board requested the Secretariat to send a regular e-mail to Board members listing all inquiries made by Board members on information related to the review of specific proposals.
- 5.3G.4 The Board asked the Secretariat to make the arrangements for posting information of the approved proposals on the web site.

5.4 PROPOSALS: DECISION ON FUNDING

Introduction

The Board moved on to considering the proposals recommended by the TRP. The corresponding report is GF/B2/4d. The Board discussed the funding options presented earlier and the corresponding implications on regional and disease mix as well as funds available for future rounds.

The Interim Executive Director introduced the session by explaining the implications of the policy decisions discussed and taken would be minor, but that the Board would have to decide whether they should be applied retroactively.

Comments

The initial focus of the discussion was on the relative merits of each of the options proposed to the Board by the TRP and the Secretariat. Board members voiced their support for an option and explained the advantages of that option and the disadvantages of the others. The following paragraphs reflect this debate.

Option 1 was affirmed, in part, because the amount of future funding to the Fund remains uncertain, and it was suggested that the Fund should be able to guarantee financing of projects for their proposed lifecycle. Also, representatives noted that the operations of the Fund are still in development and the capacity of the Secretariat to support funding approvals remains limited. Representatives expressed that, due to the time constraints of the proposal process, the quality of proposals was not what was hoped nor expected based on the principles of the Fund. Finally, as the actual process of preparing for disbursement will take time, representatives argued that committing to larger options would result in delayed disbursements and false expectations regarding the receipt of financial support.

Option 2 was viewed by some Board representatives as a balance between the larger, third option and the first option. However, the TRP Chair indicated that this second category of proposals would require modifications before they would be ready for funding. It was noted that the funding commitment of the second option is in line with available resources and, notwithstanding, provides a clear imperative for additional resource mobilization despite the greater efforts needed by the Secretariat and TRP to assist countries in finalizing the proposals. Some delegations supported this option because it was the formal recommendation of the TRP and Secretariat, who fully reviewed the proposals.

Option 3 received endorsement from some representatives who expressed a desire for the Fund to provide emergency support as quickly as possible and to mobilize substantial resources, as according to its principles. Some delegations noted that the Fund is under pressure to meet the expectations of political leaders, stakeholders and affected communities. Advocates of this option expressed that its greater implementation risks relative to categories one and two can and should be managed but are less pressing than the risk of not providing funding to proposed programs. Moreover, the approval of this option, they explained, would be an approval in principle and not result in disbursement until proposal quality is ensured through an iterative process. Finally, the amount of time available to raise the required five-year resources for the option was viewed to be sufficient. Given the substantial modifications required of the proposals, other delegations believed that the burdens on the Secretariat and the risks were too high and that the credibility of the Fund demanded that proposals approved be only of the highest quality. These delegations emphasized the pressing need to assure that Global Fund resources are used effectively, that recipients are accountable and that the Fund's integrity be maintained.

In addition to plenary comments specifically focused on options, Board members raised a number of ancillary points, which were broadly applicable across the options; as related below.

Several representatives requested clarification on the nature of secondary reviews for proposals requiring additional information. Based on the recommendation of the TRP, it was affirmed that the TRP could review in a mid-term session any proposals after substantial revision. Proposals requiring less substantial revision could be reviewed independently of an actual TRP meeting, but representatives differed in their opinion of whether the Board should meet to approve the TRP's recommendations following such reviews. Several representatives stressed that any decisions taken between planned Board meetings should be taken in consultation with the Board but without unduly delaying the process by requiring full Board meetings. In addition there was some concern expressed that the Global Fund needed to consider how to handle equity issues related to the fact that some countries decided not to apply for the first round, thereby expecting to improve the quality of their proposals. They should not be penelized for having waited.

Several Board members also requested clarification of the requirements necessary prior to disbursement in terms of fiduciary and management arrangements. The Interim Executive Director explained that such arrangements would be in place prior to disbursement, and the decision text would reflect these requirements.

The eligibility of NGOs was questioned, both in cases of local NGOs submitting proposals independently of a national CCM and of international NGOs proposing regional or global activities independently of CCM endorsement. A number of representatives agreed that NGOs should not, other than in the exceptional circumstances set out in the framework document, receive financial support in such cases. NGO proposals must be an integral part of country CCM bids to be eligible for consideration.

There was broad agreement that the tone of the approval, no matter the option supported, should not be one of "winners" versus "losers", but instead one that emphasizes immediate commitment to portions of an extended pipeline of proposals, all of which could be funded in subsequent rounds. The goal, representatives agreed, was to fund all proposals that are eligible and that meet a certain standard of quality, through an iterative process over ongoing rounds of proposal review and approval. The Interim Executive Director, in support of this approach, suggested that representatives refer to categories of proposals as opposed to options.

Applicants of proposals in categories not recommended, it was agreed, should be strongly encouraged to resubmit and to draw on technical assistance. It was suggested that the TRP and Secretariat be empowered to enter into a dialogue with applicants whose proposals required resubmission, to ensure an effective, iterative process by which the quality of proposals be improved as quickly as possible. The Chair of the TRP specifically responded to this comment by suggesting that the role of the TRP be kept independent by not entering into dialogue with countries but instead that the Board should rely on the Secretariat for this task.

Following the first plenary, the Secretariat drafted and distributed a possible decision text for the Board. Issues raised in response to this text, in addition to editorial changes, included requests for the following:

- A decision on how to respond to non-CCM proposals in countries where the CCM is not recommended for funding;
- The specification of an appeals process for applicants whose proposals are not recommended for funding; and
- More explicit language, if not a formal mechanism, to ensure a focus on poverty and countries in greatest need for resources.

Decisions

The Board re-emphasized the urgent need for additional funding to fight HIV/AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria in countries of greatest need as determined by levels of disease burden and poverty. The Board furthermore stressed the importance of responding to the enormous interest and great need expressed through the submission of 322 proposals from 77 countries (and 7 multi-country proposals) within the deadline.

The Board indicated that all proposals reviewed by the TRP are considered as proposals in the pipeline, which will follow an expeditious and progressive process for potential approval in the near future. The fact that the Board, at this session, will approve funding for a given number of proposals should not be interpreted as an indication that other submitted proposals will not be approved for funding at a later stage.

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding the immediate commitment to fund proposals, as introduced in document GF/B2/4b presented by the Secretariat and the TRP:

- 5.4.1 The Board requested the Secretariat to review new and resubmitted proposals to ensure consistency with the specific policy guidelines adopted by the Board at its second Board meeting as well as the Framework document.
- 5.4.2 The Board reconfirmed that non-CCM applications were not eligible unless the proposals satisfactorily explained how they met the exceptional circumstances set out in the framework document in this regard. The Board therefore agreed that non-CCM applications from the first round should be removed from category one and placed into category two, and follow the procedure for approval for category two. All decisions regarding categories one and two, as reported in the following section, were taken on the understanding that the categories had been amended in this way.
- 5.4.3 The Board gave preliminary approval to fund proposals in the first category ¹ recommended by the TRP, provided that:
 - all proposal clarifications and additional information requested are received and reviewed by the Secretariat and endorsed by the Chair and/or Vice-Chair of the TRP;
 - appropriate fiduciary, procurement, monitoring and evaluation (including agreed criteria and reporting guidelines) arrangements are in place in accordance with Board policy directives;
 - appropriate fiduciary, procurement, monitoring and evaluation (including agreed criteria and reporting guidelines) arrangements are in place and approved by the Executive Director.

_

¹ Categories are defined according to the recommendations made by the TRP and the Secretariat. Category 1 includes proposals/components recommended for funding with no or minor adjustments. Category 2 includes proposals/components recommended for funding needing more extensive adjustments. Category 3 includes proposals/components recommended for funding contingent on a re-review by the full TRP. Category 4 includes all other eligible proposals/components not recommended for funding but encouraged to be re-submitted.

The process of approval will be completed within six weeks on a continuous basis after the applicants received letter of notification from the Secretariat. Grant agreement negotiations for these proposals could then begin on a continuous basis as these proposals fulfill the criteria listed above.

- 5.4.4 The Board decided to approve the commitment to fund proposals in the second category recommended by the TRP, provided that clear guidelines to the applicants are provided by the TRP and the following:
 - all proposal clarifications and additional information requested are received and reviewed by the Secretariat, and approved by the Chair and Vice-Chair of the TRP upon consultation of the proposal's original primary reviewers;
 - appropriate fiduciary, procurement, monitoring and evaluation (including agreed criteria and reporting guidelines) arrangements are in place in accordance with Board policy directive;
 - appropriate fiduciary, procurement, monitoring and evaluation (including agreed criteria and reporting guidelines) arrangements are in place approved by the Executive Director.

The process of approval will be completed within six weeks on a continuous basis after the applicants received letter of notification from the Secretariat. These proposals shall finally be approved by the Board, through email, upon notification by the Secretariat that the above conditions have been met. Grant agreement negotiations for these proposals could then begin on a continuous basis as these proposals fulfill the criteria listed above.

- 5.4.5 The Board recommended that all proposals in category three need to be resubmitted for a full review by the TRP prior to being resubmitted for Board endorsement.
- 5.4.6 The Board decided to merge category 4 and 5. Proposals in this new category will be revised and reformulated using the new guidelines and form for proposals and reviewed together with newly submitted proposals.
- 5.4.7 The Board requested the Secretariat to promptly communicate to applicants of proposals in all categories the additional information needed and/or issues raised by the TRP in order to provide technical guidance,

including by relevant partners for an early revision or resubmission of proposals as recommended by the TRP.

- 5.4.8 The Board requested the Executive Director to negotiate the Grant Agreements for approved proposals, including detailed budget allocation, disbursement schedule and clear termination clauses as well as specifying the financial and program accountability and procurement mechanisms agreed.
- 5.4.9 The Board approved funding for the first two years of each proposal with subsequent years' funding contingent on:
 - a satisfactory performance assessment, to be completed no later than two years after the first disbursement;
 - the Fund's available resources at that time.
- 5.4.10 The Board authorized the Executive Director, after these conditions have been met, to enter into Grant Agreements and thereafter instruct the Trustee to disburse funds according to agreed disbursement plans and continuous reviews.
- 5.4.11 Applicants to the Fund who find that their proposal has not received a fair review by the TRP may appeal through a special procedure for which specific terms of reference will be developed by the Board Sub Working Group.

In view of concerns already raised by some applicants, the Working Group should complete its work and forward the draft procedures for consideration during the September Board meeting.

5.5 PROPOSALS: LESSONS LEARNED

Introduction

The Secretariat presented lessons learned from the first round of proposals, relating to timing, volume and quality. Based on the lessons learned, the Secretariat recommended that longer time to be allowed for all steps of the process as the short deadlines of the first round affected the work at all levels. The Secretariat also indicated to the Board that additional staff and resources might be required in the future, as volume and

workload is expected to increase over time, and the Secretariat had been stretched to the limit during the first round. Furthermore, guidelines and forms need to be improved and the establishment of means to support some countries should be considered in order to improve the quality of proposals submitted.

Comments

In order to move forward with the agenda, the Secretariat suggested that a sub-group of the delegations meet while the regular Board meeting continued, to discuss the lessons learned and the terms of reference for the TRP sub-working group.

Several delegations stressed the importance of this topic. It was decided to continue the discussion during an open sub-meeting coordinated by Thailand and France to identify the questions and issues to be further investigated by the TRP sub-working group or a separate working group.

Issues raised by delegations to be included in the discussions or in the ToR of the working group:

- Terms of reference of the continued TRP sub-working group
- Selection process and criteria of TRP members
- The suggested appeals process
- The nature of interaction between the TRP and the Board, especially how the TRP should put forward its recommendations on proposals
- A clarification of the role of the Technical Review Support Group (TRSG) vis-à-vis the TRP
- Development of standard formats for presenting proposals to the Board, including poverty indicators, needs, result indicators, etc.
- Timely translation of documents relating to the proposals process.

Decisions

The Board took note of the lessons learned and instructed the Secretariat and the TRP sub-working group to take the appropriate actions to revise current procedures and documentation in line with the guidelines developed in the sub-meeting and the revised ToR for the sub-working group. This work should be undertaken on an urgent basis; as

guidelines and forms must be revised prior to the call for proposals for the second round.

6. Global Commitment to fight HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria

A special session was held at the United Nations, with the overall objective to thank the Secretary General and the United Nations, and to encapsulate the overarching issues related to the Global Fund to update and frame the international community and public (including the private sector) understanding of the Fund. It was also an opportunity for the various sectors represented on the Global Fund Board to reaffirm the commitment of their constituencies to the Fund.

The United Nations Secretary-General, Mr. Kofi Annan, gave a speech to welcome the Fund's Board members, delegates and representatives and to reaffirm the global commitment to fight HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria. Following his remarks, comments were made by the following delegates: Mr. Rajat Gupta (Private Sector), Minister of Health Girolamo Sirchia (Italy), Mr. Gordon Conway (Rockefeller Foundation), Secretary Tommy Thompson (United States), Dr. Huang Jiefu (China), Mr. John Junor (Jamaica), Ms Milly Katana (NGOs).

All the speakers noted the tremendous challenge these diseases present to their constituencies and the global community as a whole. They also stressed the importance of the Global Fund and its commitment to creating new synergies between the different types of actors (public/private, NGO/ governmental, north/south) involved in the fight against these three diseases. Many speakers, including the Italian and Foundation community representatives, discussed innovative ideas and initiatives in their communities.

Heads of delegations and ministers then continued the discussion during a closed luncheon hosted by the Secretary-General.

7. Executive Director appointment

Introduction

The Chair requested the Vice-Chair to present the report on the work of the recruitment committee (GF/B2/6). The Vice-Chair explained to the Board the process used for the recruitment of the Executive Director, the criteria used in evaluations and the outcome of the interviews. The Vice-Chair then presented the recommendation of the Recruitment Committee and asked the Board to appoint the Executive Director.

Comments

On the suggestion from one delegation, the meeting continued as a closed session, with only Board members and their alternates present in the room.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding the recruitment of the Executive Director:

- 7.1 The Board approved the appointment of Richard Feachem for the post of Executive Director for a two-year period. The contract will be renewable.
- 7.2 The Board requested the Recruitment Committee to agree on performance indicators at the time of the negotiation of the contract.

8. Financial and Programmatic Accountability

8.1 TRUSTEE AGREEMENT AND FIDUCIARY ARRANGEMENTS

Introduction

The Secretariat presented the current status of the Trustee agreement and the implications of the Phase 1 agreement (documents GF/B2/9h, GF/B2/7). Options for the Fund in relation to fiduciary arrangements were discussed. Furthermore, the

importance of financial assessment of the approved proposals before disbursement was stressed. A representative from the World Bank presented the Bank's perspective on the issues, noting that some risk is involved – both programmatic and financial – by "not doing business as usual" and having CCM and partners for implementation at the country level. At the same time, the Fund's greatest strength is that it proposes to create new, more efficient structures, emphasizing that is will not do business as usual.

WB Trustee at the global level (phase one agreement)

Even following the approval of the Phase 1 agreement, the need for contracts with experienced, relevant local partner organizations to assist with assessment and monitoring of programme implementation and financial procedures at the country level prior to disbursement was emphasized. These organizations could be chosen among bilateral agencies, multilateral organizations or major national or international non-governmental organizations. Capacity building could also be an element of such support and services provided by such partner organizations.

Comments

Several delegations stressed the importance of adequate systems to be put in place to ensure financial and programme accountability, as these are critical elements and the basis for international development cooperation. To this end financial management arrangements of CCMs need to be assessed and checked to the satisfaction of the Global Fund. There was general agreement that a variety of partner organizations or institutions could be contracted to assume responsibility for monitoring of programme implementation and financial reporting. Such partners could be chosen among recognized local or international bilateral, multilateral or other relevant organizations, including non-governmental and commercial entities. It was noted that arrangements might differ depending on the specific country context and situation. Delegations also stressed the opportunities for capacity building in developing countries in this regard, involving capable, national contractors. The role of the World Bank was highlighted and several delegations underscored the importance of involving the World Bank in the selection of partners at the local level and the need for the World Bank to be consulted on the appointment of local partners.

Delegations expressed a split view on the involvement of the World Bank. A number of delegations expressed concern that country level monitoring not becomes an integral part of regular World Bank mechanisms, while others stressed the importance of

linking closely with the World Bank. Various alternative models were suggested including UNDP, the Global Environment Facility, UNICEF, etc.

During the discussion the Secretariat suggested that the respective CCMs at country level take the lead in identifying an appropriate partner to ensure that appropriate country-level program and financial accountability arrangements are in place prior to disbursement.

Other issues raised by Board members included the question of exchange-rate risk and whether the it was prudent to hold the assets of the Fund in a single currency, procurement guidelines and arrangements and other implementation arrangements. The Board requested the Secretariat to study the issue of exchange-rate risk with the World Bank, in order to determine whether the Fund could create an internal hedge against such risk through multi-currency management. One delegation explained that its budgeting system required providing its contributions by clearly distinguishing funds to cover program costs and administrative costs, and therefore requested the Secretariat to make the necessary arrangements with the Trustee to establish separate accounts to receive these contributions for the said purposes. The importance of open tendering processes was emphasized and it was suggested that the World Bank plays an important role. For the specific arrangements there was general consensus that the Secretariat prepare summaries of relevant agreements and make these available to the Board.

There was consensus on approval of the phase 1 agreement. However, some delegations asked for further information on how the budget presented had been calculated, which the World Bank was to provide.

Decisions

Phase one agreement

- 8.1.1 The Board decided to approve the Phase one agreement.
- 8.1.2 The Board requested the Secretariat to seek clarity from the Trustee on the management of exchange rate risks as well as the request for different accounts, and that the donors be asked to clarify the intention to earmark funds.

Immediate next steps

31

- 8.1.3 The Board decided to request the CCMs in consultation with the Secretariat and the Trustee to identify a suitable, independent, credible and experienced partner organization at country level to assure readiness for implementation and adequate programmatic, financial and related standards; and thereafter to oversee the financial accountability and programmatic implementation of the primary recipients (which could be more than one). This organization will not manage or implement the program. Implementation will be the responsibility of the local country partners identified in the proposal by the CCM.
- 8.1.4 The Board requested the Secretariat in consultation with the Trustee and other partners to define the standards for the Global Fund on financial accountability and programmatic implementation requirements at the country level, and stressed the importance of linkages to procurement policy.
- 8.1.5 The Board agreed to grant the Executive Director authority to enter into agreement with the identified partner organization at country level on the basis of the above CCM process in consultation with the Trustee on accountability standards.
- 8.1.6 These arrangements should, if possible, build on already existing structures in country and leverage new private and public partnerships. In addition, the arrangement should aim at increasing local capacity and ensuring local ownership.
- 8.1.7 The Board will be continuously informed as these arrangements are agreed in each country.

Future steps

- 8.1.8 The Board agreed that, in parallel to the immediate steps described above, the Secretariat in consultation with the Trustee and other partners should develop and specify the Global Fund's long term fiduciary requirements corresponding to international standards.
- 8.1.9 The outcome of the above will be reported at the next Board meeting.

8.2 MONITORING AND EVALUATION

Introduction

At the invitation of the Chair, the Co-Chairs of the Monitoring & Evaluation and Results-Based Disbursement (MER) Working Group presented a progress report of the Working Group and the Secretariat, referring to document GF/B2/8. The Co-Chairs explained the preliminary monitoring and evaluation framework developed by the Working Group and offered a number of measures to support near-term monitoring and evaluation needs of the Global Fund.

Comments

Prior to discussing the M&E recommendations, several Board members expressed concern about the pace with which decisions would need to be taken during the remainder of the meeting. The Interim Executive Director indicated priority decisions required during the present meeting, and suggested that the proposed M&E decisions be approved in principle and be deferred as appropriate to other decision points.

Decisions

With Board agreement, the decisions taken in relation to Monitoring and Evaluation were thus as follows:

- 8.2.1 The Board endorsed the inclusion of monitoring and evaluation as integral components of the grant agreement negotiations for approved proposals, noting the likely need for additional information on monitoring and evaluation to be provided by applicants.
- 8.2.2 The Board requested that monitoring and evaluation revisions to the guidelines for proposals and proposal form be considered by the Subworking Group on Proposals (former sub-working Group on TRP) with input from the MER Working Group.

8.3 PROCUREMENT

Introduction

The Secretariat presented a number of issues on procurement, following document GF/B2/9g. The relevance of procurement to the Global Fund's activities was emphasized, and the need for procurement policies was highlighted. It was suggested by the Secretariat that a small task force be formed to continue the work of developing a procurement policy for the Fund to be presented at the next Board meeting.

Comments

It was noted that "procurement' in the discussions should be interpreted in a broader sense to mean procurement as well as supply chain management, i.e. involving also distribution and other related issues.

All delegations were in favor of establishing a task force of technical experts however, the number of experts to be included was subject to discussion. The Board discussed the appropriate size of the task force, choosing between a small group, which would be more cost-effective and time efficient, and a larger group, with the advantage of higher transparency and openness. One delegation, stressing the importance of the Board's involvement, expressed concern that a task force appointed by the Executive Director could become too closed and suggested that each delegation should appoint one person, i.e. the task force would have 18 members. Other delegations countered that it would be impossible for each delegation to be operationally involved in all issues, and that Board members need to trust each other and thereby let a smaller group investigate the issue, with input from Board members as they choose. It was decided to form a small task force, to be co-chaired by two members of the Board. It was suggested that among the experts, one person living with HIV/AIDS and one representative from the private sector should be included. It was also noted that the task force would have a broader task, including, in addition to procurement policy, distribution and other related issues.

Decisions

 8.3.1 The Board instructed the Secretariat to solicit additional information on approved applicants' procurement and distribution systems and to review this information prior to the approval of disbursement in accordance with other pre-disbursement arrangements • 8.3.2 The Board instructed the Executive Director to create a Procurement Task Force – consisting of a limited number of technical experts from multiple sectors, including UN agencies, the private sector and civil society – acting in their personal capacity and selected based on suggestions by and the approval of the Board – and to instruct this Task Force to provide the Board by its third meeting with recommendations on possible procurement policies. The Task Force will be chaired by two members of the Board and invite other Board members to voluntarily participate. The Task Force may draw on other technical expertise as necessary and on an ongoing basis.

Comments continued

As noted earlier, during the session on Monitoring and Evaluation, several representatives expressed concern about the pace with which decisions would need to be taken over the remainder of the meeting. It was therefore suggested that the rest of the Board meeting should be dedicated to reaching consensus on the most critical issues for the Fund and that the remaining issues should be postponed to a later Board meeting. The Secretariat pointed out that many remaining decisions were crucial for the Secretariat to be able to continue its work, and that many of the topics needed more of a general approval from the Board rather than detailed comments, but agreed to a prioritized agenda. The Interim Director suggested focusing on the decisions requiring approval from the Board, including the fiduciary agreement; the agreement on proposals; the Secretariat organization, workplan and budget; and the administrative services agreement.

In relation to the discussion on the appropriate size of the procurement task force, several delegations had raised the issue of Board governance, stating that the way the Board works must be improved. The Board must become more efficient rather than have more or longer meetings, and one way to achieve this is to form smaller task forces to address different issues. It was suggested that a sub-working group should be formed to work on guidelines for the Board's working methods and procedures as well as governance in general.

As a separate issue, it was suggested to have an additional ("mini-") Board meeting – potentially by phone – in May-June to discuss the agenda items that would not be dealt with at this meeting due to time constraints. The Secretariat noted that according to the Board operating procedures, there is no "mini-Board meeting" and that having part of the Board members participating by telephone was not very successful. In addition, the Secretariat reported that a full Board meeting would cost approximately USD 200,000

35

with interpretation, delegations, etc. After voting, it was decided not to have an additional Board meeting.

9. Business plan and budget

The Secretariat introduced the purpose and content of an overall Business Plan for the Global Fund, including documents GF/B2/9a through 9l. The Secretariat suggested that the Business Plan be used as an operational manual for the Secretariat, noting that it would greatly facilitate the transition between the interim and permanent Secretariats. It was noted that many sections of the Business Plan had already been reviewed and discussed, in the context of other agenda items. The Secretariat explained that three additional sections would be presented to the Board during the current session.

9.1 BUSINESS PLAN: STRUCTURE AND STAFFING OF SECRETARIAT

Introduction

The first presentation made by the Secretariat outlined the proposed structure and staffing of the permanent Secretariat. The Secretariat explained that the proposed structure would be team-based, with Fund Portfolio Managers as the core staff members with technical experts to provide cross-portfolio support. A proposed staffing plan was presented with 19 professional and 8 administrative employees to be recruited during 2002, with an additional 7+4 to be recruited during 2003. The Secretariat concluded by stating that the recruitment of the initial permanent Secretariat staff is expected to take 3 to 4 months. The structure and staffing of the Secretariat is presented in document GF/B2/9k.

9.2 BUSINESS PLAN: WORKPLAN AND BUDGET

Introduction

The Secretariat presented the overall workplan and budget for 2002 and the tentative budget for 2003, as outlined in document GF/B2/9l. The Secretariat outlined the key

activities for the Secretariat for the rest of 2002 and asked the Board to acknowledge these. Finally, the Board was asked to approve the budget for 2002 and make the corresponding funds available to the Secretariat.

Comments

Several delegations noted that it was unfortunate that not more time was available to discuss the document put forward, given its importance to the future of the Secretariat.

Several delegations suggested, considering the short time-frame, to approve the proposed staffing plan and budget for a shorter period, either for the next 2 months or for the full year of 2002. One delegation pointed out that the Secretariat should be flexible in its requirements without too much emphasis on length of professional experience, to enable the Secretariat a have wider range of choices. Agreement was found after discussion to approve the suggested overall budget for 5 months and to approve the budget for the rest of year 2002 after a full presentation at the next Board meeting. There was also general agreement that the Secretariat should initiate recruitment according to the proposed staffing plan for 2002, with a later consideration of the recruitment for 2003.

It was also noted that the incoming Executive Director should be highly involved and actively consulted in the recruitment process, both in developing the specific staffing plan and job descriptions and in the actual interview process.

Decisions

- 9.2.1 The Board approved the suggested organizational structure of the Secretariat in principle, stressing the importance of the in-coming Executive Director having a possibility to fine-tune the structure.
- 9.2.2 The Board approved the workplan and budget for a five month period (not exceeding USD 9,8 million) and the Board requested the Executive Director to present a revised budget at the Board at the next Board Meeting.

9.3 BUSINESS PLAN: PARTNERSHIPS AND OTHER OPERATIONS

Due to time constraints, it was decided to postpone the presentation and discussion of the remaining parts of the business plan to a later date.

10. Quasi Intergovernmental Organization

Due to the time constraint, the Quasi Intergovernmental Organization presentation and discussion was postponed to a later date.

11. Administrative Services Agreement

Introduction

The Interim Executive Director, together with a representative of WHO, presented the draft Administrative Services Agreement negotiated with WHO (GF/B2/11). The Interim Executive Director reminded the Board that drafts of the agreement had been circulated previously and the Board was therefore asked to authorize the Chair to enter into the agreement with WHO.

Comments

Several delegations thanked WHO for its support, the flexibility shown in developing the agreement and for future cooperation, and endorsed the proposed agreement.

The delegation of communities emphasized the importance of ensuring that health insurance is to be provided for HIV positive persons. The Secretariat confirmed that this would be included in the agreement with WHO. One delegation requested some minor modifications regarding the text and the Secretariat and WHO agreed that these would be addressed.

The Chair concluded that the agreement was approved by the Board, contingent on the modifications agreed by the WHO.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board regarding the Administrative Services Agreement with the World Health Organization (WHO) (document GF/B2/11):

• 11.1.1 The Board approved the Agreement, with the minor modifications as requested, and authorized the Chairman of the Board to enter into this agreement with WHO.

12. Next Board meeting

Introduction

The Chair presented issues related to the timing of the next Board meetings. The Chair noted that the Interim Secretariat suggested that the third and fourth meetings take place on 17–18 September and 13 – 14 November, 2002, as reflected in document GF/B2/12. Also noted was the Interim Secretariat's suggestion for the next Board meeting to be held in Geneva, with future meetings possibly being held in other locations on a rotating basis.

Comments

Several representatives agreed with the proposed dates and agenda of the next Board meetings, but noted that the scheduling should account for other confirmed events for September and November, especially regional WHO meetings planned for September. The Board requested that there be further consultations on the timing prior to the confirmation of dates for the next Board meetings.

Geneva was confirmed as the location of the third meeting. The Thai representative proposed that Thailand host the fourth Board meeting in November. The Private Sector representative suggested that it may be more practical to hold the fourth meeting in Geneva as well and asked that the fifth meeting be held in Thailand. The location of the fourth meeting was not confirmed and will be determined prior to the third meeting and it was agreed that Thailand should be viewed as an option for future meetings.

During the discussion of this last agenda item, a few other issues were raised, which the Board had been unable to previously engage. As Board governance was not discussed, it was proposed that a working group be created to consider the topic and present its findings to the third Board meeting. Some Board members expressed the need for a conflict of interest policy, and it was agreed that the working group to be formed for governance issues should also draft a policy for conflict of interest for consideration by the Board. Finally, several Board members requested clarification

regarding the legal authority (delegation of signing authority) of the newly appointed Executive Director vis-à-vis his employment with WHO; the Swiss Board member was asked to clarify this point.

Decisions

The following decisions were taken by the Board in its discussions of the next Board meetings:

- 12.1.1 The Board decided that the Third Board Meeting be held in Geneva and that it be tentatively scheduled for the middle of September, 2002.
- 12.1.2 The Board decided that the Fourth Board Meeting be tentatively scheduled for the middle of November, 2002 and that during this meeting a second round of proposal approvals for 2002 be considered.
- 12.1.3 The Board requested that representatives from the Private Sector and Italy chair a working group on governance and that the findings of this working group be presented at the Third Board Meeting.

Annex I: Abbreviations of documents

Reference number Title

GF/B2/0a Report of the Interim Secretariat

GF/B2/0b Provisional list of participants

GF/B2/1 Agenda

GF/B2/2 Provisional list of Board members

GF/B2/3a Minutes of the 1st Board meeting

GF/B2/3b Report from the 1st Board meeting

GF/B2/3c Minutes of the special Board meeting

GF/B2/4a First round of proposals – Cover note

GF/B2/4b First round of proposals management: Analysis,

recommendations and lessons learnt

GF/B2/4c First round of proposals management: Policy issues

GF/B2/4d First round of proposals – Listings

GF/B2/4d Annex 1 List of proposals received

GF/B2/4d Annex 2 Proposals submitted to the TRP

GF/B2/4d Annex 3 Outcomes of technical review process

GF/B2/4d Annex 4 TRP comments of reviewed proposals

GF/B2/5 Global commitment to fight HIV/AIDS,

tuberculosis and malaria

GF/B2/6 Report on Executive Director recruitment + annexes

GF/B2/7 Trustee agreement – Phase 1

GF/B2/8 Progress report M&E and RBD Working Group

GF/B2/8 Annex II Country programme M&E indicators

GF/B2/9a Business plan – Introduction

GF/B2/9b The global challenge of HIV/AIDS, TB and malaria

GF/B2/9c Purpose, principles, scope, governance and...

GF/B2/9d Strategy of the Global Fund (first draft)

GF/B2/9e Partnerships at the Global Fund

GF/B2/9f Resource mobilization at the Global Fund

GF/B2/9g Fund portfolio management process

GF/B2/9g The Global Fund needs assessment instrument

GF/B2/9g Procurement

GF/B2/9h	Fiduciary management and financial accountability
GF/B2/9i	Monitoring & Evaluation and Results-Based Disbursement
GF/B2/9j	Communications at the Global Fund
GF/B2/9k	Organizational structure of the Secretariat
GF/B2/91	Workplan of the Secretariat during 2002
GF/B2/91	Budget proposal May – December 2002
GF/B2/10	Quasi-intergovernmental organization
GF/B2/11	Administrative Services Agreement between the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and the World Health Organisation
GF/B2/12	Proposals for next Board meeting
GF/B2/13	Report of the second Board meeting
GF/B2/14	Expanding the Board TRP Sub-Working Group – Terms of reference

Annex II: List of participants

Voting Members

Developed Country NGO

Board Member
Dr. Christoph Benn

Head, Dept for Health Policy & Studies

German Institute for Medical Mission, Germany

Other members of the delegation

Dr. Peter Poore

Independent Health Adviser, Save the Children,

UK

Mr. Richard Burzynski

Executive Director, ICASO, Canada

Mr. Joseph Scheich

Adviser, Global Network of People Living with

HIV/AIDS, Netherlands

Mr. Florian Hübner

EuroCASO, Switzerland

Ms. Emily Bass

Advocacy Coordinator, Vaccine Preparedness International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, USA Tel: +49 7071 206 520 Mobile: +49 170 535 30 91

E-mail: benn@difaem.de

Tel: +44 1379 668 134 Mobile: +44 77 40 65 62 64 E-mail: pdpoore@aol.com

Tel: + 1 416 340 8484, ext. 243 E-mail: <u>richardb@icaso.org</u>

Tel: + 31 20 423 4114

E-mail: jscheich@aidsfonds.nl

Tel: +41 22 700 15 00 E-mail: florian@hivnet.ch

Tel: +1 917 514 55 79 or +1 212 847 1051

Developing Country NGO

Board Member

Ms. Milly Katana Tel: +256 41 223 957/77 403836 Lobbying and Advocacy Officer E-mail: katanam@infocom.co.ug

Health Rights Action Group, Uganda

Other members of the delegation

Rev. Dr. Fidon R. Mwombeki Tel: +255 28 222 13 13 General Secretary, Northwestern Diocese, Evangelical Mobile: +255 741 242 161

E-mail: elct-nwd@twiga.com

Email: Nigeria_aidsalliance@yahoo.com

faroukauwalu@yahoo.co.uk

Lutheran Church in Tanzania

Mr. Javier Luis Hourcade Bellocq Tel: +54 11 4807 2772 E-mail: info@redla.org Secretario Regional, Red Latinoamericana de Personas jlhb@ciudad.com.ar

Viviendo con el VIH/SIDA, Argentina

Mr. Mohammed Farouk Auwalu Tel: +234 1 260 0047, 29

National Secretary, National Network of PLWHA in Nigeria and Nigeria AIDS Alliance, Nigeria

Tel: +603 4045 1033 Ms. Susan Chong

Asia-Pacific Network of AIDS Service Organizations E-mail: apcaso@pd.jaring.my

Malaysia

Mrs. Renate Koch Tel: +58 212 232 79 38 LACCASO, Venezuela E-mail: rkoch@internet.ve

Eastern Mediterranean region (Pakistan)

Board Member

Mr. Ejaz Rahim Tel: +92 51 9211622/9201782 Federal Secretary Health, Government of Pakistan E-mail: <u>sehat@apollo.net.pk</u>

Ministry of Health, Pakistan

Alternate

Tel: +967 1 252193 Mr. Abdul Nasser Munibari

Minister of Public Health and Population E-mail: munibari@hotmail.com

Republic of Yemen

Eastern and Southern Africa (Uganda)

Board Member

Dr. Chrispus Kiyonga Tel: +256 41 345 049

Minister without Portfolio E-mail: ckiyonga@infocom.co.ug

Tel: +27 12 328 4773/4

Government of Uganda

Other Members of the delegation Dr. Manto Tshabalala-Msimang

Minister of Health
South Africa

Prof. F Omaswa Tel: +256 41 340873

Director General Health Services E-mail: dghs@infocom.co.ug Ministry of Health, Uganda

Brig. Jim K Muhwezi Tel: +256 41 340 871

Minister of Health E-mail: <u>muhwezi@starcom.co.ug</u>

Uganda

Dr. Francisco Ferreira Songane Tel: +258 1 42 26 82

Ministro da Saude E-mail: <u>ffsongane@teledata.mz</u>
Mozambique

Dr Nono Simelela Tel: +27 12 321 0121

Programme Manager HIV/AIDS E-mail: simela@health.gov.za

South Africa

Mr R.V. Mabope Tel: +27 12 328 4773/4

Special Adviser to the Minister E-mail: raymabope@health.gov.za
Ministry of Health, South Africa

Dr. Avertino T.L. Barreto Tel: +258 1 431 305

Deputy National Director for Health Services E-mail: avertino@dnsdee.imoz.com

Ministry of Health, Mozambique

Dr. Rosa Marlene Manjate Liquela Tel: +258 1 430 970

Head, Department of Epidemiology and Endemics, E-mail: mmanjate@dnsdee.imoz.com

Ministry of Health, Mozambique

Hon. Prof. K. Samson Ongeri Tel: +254 2 248551

Minister of Health

Kenya

Mr. Tom Mboya Tel: +254 2 722 990

Ministry of Health, Kenya E-mail: dsrs@africaonline.co.ke

Eastern Europe (Ukraine)

Board Member

Dr. Vitalii Moskalenko Tel: +380 44 253 52 71

Minister of Health E-mail: tsenilova@moz.gov.ua

Ukraine

Other Members of the delegation

Ms. Zhana Tsenilova Tel: +380 44 253 52 71

Head International Relation Department E-mail: tsenilova@moz.gov.ua

Ministry of Health, Ukraine

Mr. Serhii Fillippovych Tel: +380 44 253 8386 Head HIV/AIDS Dept E-mail: filipsa@i.kiev.ua

Ministry of Health, Ukraine

Mr. Oleksii Holubov Tel: +1 212 759 70 03

First Secretary E-mail: oholubov@hotmail.com

Permanent Mission of Ukraine to the UN, New York

Dr. Anna Marzec-Boguslawska Tel: +48 22 641 83 01

Director National AIDS Center, Poland E-mail: dysekcja@aids.gov.pl

Mr. Oleg Shamanov Tel: +1 212 744 44 58

Counsellor, Permanent Mission of the Russian E-mail: oshamanov@un.int

Federation to the UN, New York

Mr. Valeriy Kuchinsky Tel: +1 212 759 7003 E-mail: uamission@un.org

Ambassador, Permanent Representative of Ukraine to

the UN, New York

European Commission (Austria, Belgium)

Board Member Dr. Lieve Fransen Tel: +32 2 296 36 98

Head of Unit, Human and Social Development E-mail: lieve.fransen@cec.eu.int

Directorate General for Development, EC

Other members of the delegation

Mrs. Angeline Eichhorst Tel: +32 2 299 26 48

Human and Social Development E-mail: Angelina.eichhorst@cec.eu.int

Directorate General for Development, EC

Mr. Jean-Paul Klein Tel: +43 1 711 00 4103

Federal Ministry for Social Security & Generation E-mail: <u>jean-paul.klein@bmsg.gv.at</u>

Austria

Mrs. Alice Zaunschirm Tel: + 212 210 98 69

Austrian Mission to the UN, New York E-mail: alice.zaunschirm@bmaa.gv.at

Mr. Paul Cartier Tel: +1 202 333 6900

Conseiller à la Coopération de la Belgique à la Banque E-mail: paul.cartier@diplobel.org

Mondiale, USA

France (Germany, Luxemburg, Spain)

Board Member

Mrs. Mireille GUIGAZ Tél: +33 1 53 69 41 10

Directeur du Développement et de la Coopération E- mail : <u>mireille.guigaz@diplomatie.gouv.fr</u>

Technique - CID/DCT, France

Other members of the delegation

Mr. Bernard Kouchner Ministre delegué a la Santé

France

Mr. Eric Chevallier Tel: +33 1 40 56 43 68

Conseiller spécial auprès du Ministre de la Santé E-mail: <u>eric.chevalier@sante.gouv.fr</u>

France

Mrs. Stephane Pallez

Chef du Service des Affaires Internationales, Direction

du Trésor, France

Replaced on April 23–24 by:

Mrs. Catherine Gras Tel: +1 212 702 49 58

Permanent Mission of France to the UN, New York E-mail: <u>Catherine.gras@diplomatie.gouv.fr</u>

Replaced on April 22 by:

Mrs. Ambroise Fayolle Tel: +33 1 40 04 04 04

Ministère des Finances E-mail: <u>ambroise.fayolle@tresor.gouv.fr</u>

Direction du Trésor, France

Mr. Charles Goerens Tel: +1 212 935 35 89

Ministre de la Coopération et de l'Action Humanitaire

Luxembourg

Mrs. Elisabeth Colotte Tel: +352 478 24 74

Conseillère auprès du Ministre de la Coopération et de E-mail: Elisabeth.colotte@moe.etat.lu

l'Action Humanitaire, Luxembourg

Dr. Thomas Kirsch-Woik Tel: +49 6196 79 1321

Senior Health Adviser, GTZ, Germany E-mail: Thomas.Kirsch-Woik@gtz.de

Mr. Bernard Kuehn Tel: +49 228 535 3690

Head, Department for Education, Health, Population
Policy, German Federal Ministry for Economic

E-mail: Kuehn@bmz.bund.de

Cooperation & Development, Germany

Mr. Francisco Parras
Tel: +34 91 44 74 350
Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo, Spain
E-mail: fparras@msc.es

Mr. Juan Fernandez Trigo Tel: +34 91 661 10 50

Spain E-mail: jfernandeztrigo@spainun.org

Mr. Serge Tomasi Tel: +33 1 53 69 39 74

Ministère des Affaires Etrangères E-mail: serge.tomasi@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Direction du Développement et de la Coopération

Technique, France

Gates Foundation

Board Member

Dr. Helene D. Gayle, MD, MPH Tel: +1 206 709 31 97

Senior Advisor HIV/AIDS Program E-mail: heleneg@gatesfoundation.org

Gates Foundation, USA

Other members of the delegation

Mr. James Herrington Tel. 202-887-9040

Health Scientist, United Nations Foundation, USA Email: jherrington@unfoundation.org

Mr. Ariel Pablos-Mendez

Tel: +1 212 052 83 48

Rockefeller Foundation, USA

E-mail: ap3a@columbia.edu

Mr. Tim Evans Tel: +1 212 852 8320

Rockefeller Foundation, USA E-mail: tevans@rockfound.org

Italy

Board Member

Mr. Giandomenico Magliano Tel: +39 06 3691 4217

Minister Plenipotentiary E-mail: giandomenico.magliano@esteri.it

Director-General for Development Cooperation

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Italy

Other Members of the delegation
Professor Girolamo Sirchia
Tel: +39 6 5994 51 16

Minister of Health, Head of Delegation at the Open

Session with UN Secretary General

Italy

Mr. Claudio Spinedi Tel: +39 06 3691 3007

Counsellor, Directorate-General for Development E-mail: claudio.spinedi@esteri.it
Cooperation, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Italy

Ms. Natalia Quintavalle Tel: +41 22 91 80 810

Counsellor, Permanent Mission of Italy to the UN E-mail: natalia.quintavalle@ties.itu.int
Office and other International Organisations in Geneva

Tel: +39 2 3085057

Mr. Leone Gianturco
Tel: +39 6 4761 3920
Economic and Financial Advisor
E-mail: gianturco@tesoro.it

International Financial Relations
Ministry of Economy and Finance, Italy

Mr. Michele Romano

Representative Italian NGOs, Italy E-mail: romano@coopi.org

Mr. Vittorio Silano Tel: +39 6 5994 2774

Head, Human Health & Foreign Relations E-mail: <u>v.silano@sanita.it</u>
Ministry of Health, Italy

Ms. Antonella Cinque Tel: +39 6 5994 5116

Head, Technical Secretariat and Special Assistant to the E-mail: antonella.cinque@sanita.it

Minister of Health, Ministry of Health, Italy

Mr. Roberto Iadicicco Tel: +39 6 5994 5397

Press Officer, Ministry of Health, Italy E-mail: <u>ufficiostampa@sanita.it</u>

Japan

Board Member

Mr. Seiji Morimoto Tel: +81 3 6402 2566

Deputy Director-General E-mail: seiji.morimoto@mofa.go.jp

Multilateral Cooperation Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Japan

Other members of the delegation

Mr. Masahiro Imamura Tel: + 81 3 6402 2560

Parliamentary Secretary for Foreign Affairs Head of

delegation, Japan

Mr. Kazutoshi Inadome Tel: +81 3 6402 25 60

Deputy Director, Specialized Agencies Administration

Division, Multilateral Cooperation Department

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Japan

Dr. Masami Sakoi Tel: +81 3 3595 24 03

Deputy Director, International Affairs Div. E-mail: sakoi-masami@mhlw.jp

Minister's Secretariat

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, Japan

Mr. Mosatoshi Sugiura Tel: +81 3 6402 2560

Official Secretary of Mr. Imamura Parliamentary

Secretary for Foreign Affairs, Japan

Mr. Satoshi Hemmi Tel: +41 22 717 3107

First Secretary, Permanent Mission of Japan to the UN E-mail: satoshi.hemmi@mofa.go.jp

Geneva

Latin America & Caribbean (Brazil)

Board Member:

Dr. Paolo Roberto Teixeira Tel: +55 61 448 8004

Director, Brazilian STD/AIDS Program, Brasil E-mail: pteixeira@aids.gov.br

Other members of the delegation:

Mr. John Junor Tel: +876 967 0306

Minister of Health E-mail: junor@moh.gov.jm

Jamaica

Mr. Mario Rene Bolanos Tel: +1 212 679 4760

Minister of Health and Social Assistance

Guatemala

Mr. Henri-Claude Voltaire Tel: +509 228 25 18

Minister of Health E-mail: mspp.min@dnetwork.net

Haiti <u>hcvoltaire@hotmail.com</u>

Dr. Elias Lizardo Tel: +504 222 85 18

Minister of Health E-mail: saludhonduras@yahoo.com

Honduras

Mr. Douglas Slater Tel: +784 456 1111 ext. 511

Minister of Health E-mail: douglasslater@hotmail.com

Saint Vincent and Grenadines

Lic. Guillermo Egremy

Tel: +55 2848 56 ext. 260 or 261

Director of Information and Education of E-mail: ceducaci@prodigy.net.mx

CENSIDA/SSA

Mr. Eddie Greene Tel: +592 44 93

Representative of CARICOM E-mail: egreene@caricom.org

Mr. Alex Giacomelli

Brazilian Mission to UN, New York

Ms. Dory Lucas Alecio
Tel: +25 16 05 4/5
AIDS programme Guatemala
E-mail: pas@ops.org.gt

Mrs. Nina Schnall
Haiti
Tel: +509 718 797 97 14
Email: ninaclara@aol.com

Private Sector

Board Member

Mr. Rajat Gupta Tel: +1 203 977 6701

Managing Director, McKinsey & Company, USA E-mail: Rajat_gupta@mckinsey.com

Other Members of the delegation

Dr. Kate Taylor Tel: +41 22 869 14 96

Associate Director, Global Health Initiative E-mail: kate.taylor@weforum.org

World Economic Forum, Switzerland

Mr. Carl Manser Tel: +27 11 800 3061/+27 13 693 2355 Corporate Consultant, HIV/AIDS Programme E-mail: carl.manser@eskom.co.za

Eskom, South Africa

Mr. Jon Pender Tel: +44 20 80475498

Director, External Relations E-mail: jon.d.pender@gsk.com

GlaxoSmithKline, United Kingdom

Dr. Harvey Bale Tel: +41 22 338 3200 Director General E-mail: h.bale@ifpma.org

IFPMA, Switzerland

Tel: +49 611 33 59 163 Mr. Thomas Schönemann

Managing Director E-mail: Thomas.schoenemann@medvantis.de

Medvantis, Germany

Dr. Jeff Sturchio Tel: +1 908 423 3981

E-mail: Jeffrey_sturchio@merck.com Vice-president External Affairs

Merck & Co, USA

South East Asia (Thailand)

Board Member

Dr. Suwit Wibulpolprasert Tel: +66 2 590 11 22, 590 11 13 Deputy Permanent Secretary E-mail: suwit@health.moph.go.th

Ministry of Public Health, Thailand

Other Members of the delegation

Dr. Viroj Tangcharoensathien Tel: +66 2 590 2371, 590 23 84 E-mail: viroj@hsrint.hsri.or.th

Deputy Director, Int. Health Policy Program-Thailand

Ministry of Public Health, Thailand

Ms. Cha-aim Pachanee Bureau of International Health Office of the Permanent Secretary Ministry of Public Health, Thailand

Tel: +66 2 590 1032-3

Tel: +66 2 590 1368, 590 23 83

E-mail: chaaim@health.moph.go.th

Dr. Prateep Dhanakijcharoen Assistant Permanent Secretary Ministry of Public Health, Thailand

Mr. Kulkumut Singhara Na Ayudhaya Minister, Permanent Mission of Thailand to the UN, New York

Ms. Arjaree Sriratanaban Second Secretary, Permanent Mission of Thailand to the UN, New York

Sweden (Denmark, Ireland, Norway, Netherlands)

Board Member

Mr. Lennarth Hjelmåker Tel: +46 8 405 34 47

Director, Ambassador E-mail:

Department for Global Development (GU) <u>lennarth.hjelmaker@foreign.ministry.se</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Sweden

Other Members of the delegation

Ms. Marijke Wijnroks Tel: +31 70 348 6967

Health Adviser, E-mail: <u>marijke.wijnroks@minbuza.nl</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Netherlands

Mr. Bengt Gunnar Herrström Tel: +46 8 405 54 82
Deputy Director, Ambassador E-mail: bengt-

Department for Global Development (GU) <u>gunnar.herrstrom@foreign.ministry.se</u>
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Sweden

Dr. Birgit Lunden
Tel: +47 22 24 34 04
Senior Advisor HIV/AIDS
E-mail: blu@mfa.no

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Norway

Ms. Thea Christiansen

Tel: +45 33 92 17 91

Head of Section, HIV/AIS and Child Rights

E-mail: thechr@um.dk

Dept. for UN Development Assistance Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Denmark Mr. Anders Molin Tel: +46 8 69 85 000

Senior Program Officer, Health Division E-mail: anders.molin@sida.se

Department for Democracy and Social Development,

SIDA, Sweden

Ms. Sophie Belfrage Tel: +1 212 583 25 00

Second Secretary, Permanent Mission of Sweden to the E-mail: sophie.belfrage@foreign.ministry.se

UN. New York

Mr. Thomas Christensen Tel: +212 705 4906

Economic Advisor, Danish Permanent Mission to the E-mail: tomchr@um.dk UN, New York

United Kingdom (Canada, Switzerland)

Alternate

Mr. Ernest Loevinsohn Tel: + 1 819 997 94 92

Director General, Program against Hunger, E-mail: ernest_loevinsohn@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Malnutrition and Disease, Canadian International

Development Agency (CIDA), Canada

Other Members of the delegation

Dr Julian Lob-Levyt Tel: +44 20 7023 0107

Chief Health and Population Adviser, Department for E-mail: j-lob-levyt@dfid.gov.uk

International Development (DFID), UK

Mr. Martin Taylor Tel: +44 20 7023 0319

Health Strategist, Department for International E-mail: m-taylor@dfid.gov.uk

Development (DFID), UK

Mr. Stephen Sabey Tel: +44 20 7023 0130 Team Manager, Health Systems, E-mail: s-sabey@dfid.gov.uk

Department for International Development (DFID), UK

Mr. Jacques Martin Tel: +41 31 322 3447

Senior Adviser, Health and Population E-mail: Jacques.martin@deza.admin.ch Swiss Agency for Develop.& Cooperation

Switzerland

Tel: +1 819 997 1646 Mr. Bryan Luck

Canada E-mail:bryan_luck@acdi-cida.gc.cq Mr. Ken Grant Tel: +44 207 253 22 22 IHSD, UK E-mail: ken.grant@ihsd.org

Mr. Joel Spicer Tel: +1 613 567 0638

Canada E-mail: joel_spicer@acdi-cida.gc.ca

United States of America

Board Member

Mr. Tommy J. Thompson Tel: +1 202 690 6174

Secretary of Health and Human Services E-mail: William.steiger@hhs.gov

Department of Health and Human Services

USA

Other Members of the delegation

Dr. Jack Chow

Tel: +1 202 647 4909 OR 2232

Deputy Assistant Secretary for International Health and

E-mail: chowjc@state.gov

Science, Department of State, USA

Dr. Anne Peterson Tel: +1 202 712 0970

Assistant Administrator for Global Health USAID, E-mail: apeterson@usaid.gov

USA

Dr William Steiger Tel. +1 202 690 6174

Special Advisor to the Secretary E-mail: William.Steiger@hhs.gov

Department of Health and Human Services, USA

Mr. Michael Miller Tel: +1 202 456 92 61

National Security Counsel E-mail: Michael w. miller@nse.eop.gov

The White House, USA

Mr. David J. Sullivan Tel: +1 202 647 22 98

Office of the Legal Advisor E-mail: sullivandjems@state.gov

Department of State, USA

Mrs. Judith Kaufmann Tel: +1 202 647 1318

International Relations Officer Email: kaufmannjr2@state.gov

Office of International Health Affairs

Department of State, USA

Ms. Gabrielle Bushman Tel: +1 202 712 5134

Communication Liaison E-mail: gbushman@usaid.gov

Bureau of Global Health, USAID, USA

Mr. Amar Bhat Tel: +1 301 443 14 40

Office of Global Health E-mail: abhat@osophs.dhhs.gov

Department of Health and Human Services, USA

West and Central Africa (Nigeria)

Dr. Abdul Nasidi Tel: +234 9 413 89 31

Federal Secretariat E-mail: nasidia@hotmail.com

Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria

Western Pacific Region (China)

Board Member

Dr. Huang Jiefu Tel: +86 10 6879 2033

Vice Minister, Ministry of Health

China

Other members of the delegation

Dr. Ren Minghui Tel: +86 10 6879 2283

Deputy Director General E-mail: johan_robet@hotmail.com

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Health, China

Dr. Qi Xiaiqiu Tel: +86 10 6879 23 81

Director General, Dept of Disease Control

Ministry of Health, China

Dr. Shao Yiming Tel: +86 10 6316 5880

National Center for AIDS Prevention & Control, China E-mail: ncaids@public.bta.net.cn

Dr. Xing Jun Tel: +86 10 6879 22 77

Deputy Director E-mail: jjxing@chsi3.moh.gov.cn

Division of Multilateral Relations

Ministry of Health, China

Ms. Zhang Xiaoan Tel: +1 212 655 6165

Counsellor, Permanent Mission of China to the United

Nations, New York

Ms. Wang Ling Tel: +1 212 655 6165

Third Secretary, Permanent Mission of China to the

United Nations, New York

Ex Officio Members without voting rights

NGO Representative of the community of people living with HIV/AIDS or from a community living with TB or malaria

Board Member

Mrs. Philippa Lawson
Tel: +1 202 884 8586
International HIV/AIDS Team Leader
E-mail: Plawson@aed.org

Center for Community-Based Health Strategies, USA

Other Members of the Delegation

Dr. Charles Roy
Tel: +1 416 340 84 84, ext. 271
Executive Director, AIDS Committee of Toronto,
E-mail: croy@actoronto.org

Canada

Ms. Brigitte Syamalevwe Tel: +260 96 905831

Zambia E-mail: <u>brigittesyamalevwe@hotmail.com</u>

Ms. Celina D'Costa Tel: +91 20 422 23 34

PATH+, India E-mail: dcostacelina@rediffmail.com

celi@vsnl.com

Mr. Rodrigo Pascal Tel: 56 2 635 50 74 or 635 3951

Vivo Positivo REDLA +, Chile Email: cornavih@interactiva.cl

Mr. Jairo Pedraza Tel: +1 212 594 7741
Cicatelli Associates, USA E-mail: babaluage@aol.com

Ms. Kim Nichols

Tel: +1 212 222 38 87

African Services Committee, USA

E-mail: africanserve@aff.net

Dr. David Hoos Tel: +1 212 342 0464

USA E-mail: OH39@Columbia.chv

UNAIDS

Board Member

Dr. Peter Piot Tel: +41 22 791 45 10
Executive Director E-mail: piotp@unaids.org

UNAIDS

Other Members of the delegation

Dr. James Sherry

Director, Programme Development & Coordination

Tel: +41 22 791 45 05

E-mail: sherryj@unaids.org

Group, UNAIDS

Mrs. Helen Tracey

Tel: +41 22 791 35 11

Policy Coordination, Executive Office, UNAIDS

Tel: +41 22 791 35 11

E-mail: traceyh@unaids.org

Mr. Michel Sidibe Tel: +41 22 791 33 92

Director, Country & Regional Support Dept. E-mail: sidibem@unaids.org

UNAIDS

Mr. Mark Stirling

Principal Officer, HIV/AIDS, UNICEF

Tel: +1 212 326 7475

Email: mstirling@unicef.org

Dr. Suman Mehta Tel: +1 212 297 5256 HIV/AIDS Coordinator Email: mehta@unfpa.org

Technical Support Division, UNFPA

Mr. Hakan Bjorkman Tel: +1 212 906 6080

Senior Adviser E-mail: <u>hakan.bjorkman@undp.org</u>

Special Initiative on HIV/AIDS, UNDP

Mr. Desmond Johns

Tel: +1 212 824 66 09

UNAIDS New York Office

E-mail: djohns@unicef.org

Mrs. Luiz Loures Tel: +41 1 22 791 46 98
UNAIDS E-mail: louresl@unaids.org

WHO

Board Member

Dr. Gro Harlem Brundtland

Tel: +41 22 791 27 11/2981/2982

Director-General

E-mail: brundtlandg@who.int

WHO

Other Members of the delegation

Dr. David Nabarro

Tel: + 41 22 791 2714

Executive Director

E-mail: nabarrod@who.int

Office of the Director-General, WHO

Mr. Maryan Baquerot Tel: +41 22 791 23 61
Executive Director, General Management, WHO E-mail: baquerotm@who.int

Dr. Andrew Cassels

Tel: + 41 22 791 2080

Director, Strategy Unit

E-mail: casselsa@who.int

Office of the Director-General, WHO

Mrs. Namita Pradhan

Tel: +41 22 791 29 57

Senior Policy Analyst

E-mail: pradhann@who.int

Office of the Director-General, WHO

Mr. Ian Smith

Tel: +41 22 791 25 36

Stop TB

E-mail: smithi@who.int

World Bank

Board Member

Mr. Geoffrey Lamb Tel: +1 202 458 5522

Director, Resource Mobilisation Dept, World Bank E-mail: glamb@worldbank.org

Other Members of the delegation

Mr. Ivar Andersen Tel: +1 202 458 2140

Senior Operations Officer, World Bank E-mail: <u>iandersen@worldbank.org</u>

Mr. James Christopher Lovelace Tel: +1 202 458-5520/5125

Health, Nutrition and Population (HDNHE)

Email: <u>Jlovelace@worldbank.org</u>

Chair, HNP Board, World Bank

Ms. Angelique DePlaa Tel: +1 202 458 7999

Senior Economist, Resource Mobilisation Department, E-mail: Adeplaa@worldbank.org

World Bank

Mr. Thomas Duvall Tel: +1 202 458 15 13

Chief Counsel, Legal-Cofinancing & Project Finance, E-mail: tduvall@worldbank.org

World Bank

Board Designated non voting Swiss Member

Mr. Edmond Tavernier

Tel: +41 22 704 37 00

Senior Partner, Tavernier Tschanz (Avocates:

E-mail: Tavernier@ttv.ch

Attorneys-at-Law), Switzerland

Interim Secretariat

Dr. Anders Nordström Tel: +41 22 791 94 45

Interim Executive Director E-mail: anders.Nordstrom@tss-twg.be

Mr. Paul Ehmer Tel: +1 202 712 12 91
Co-Manager E-mail: pehmer@usaid.gov

Ms. Leyla Alyanak Tel: +41 22 791 94 55

Head Communications & Resource Mobilisation E-mail: leyla.alyanak@tss-twg.be

Mr. Mazuwa Banda Tel: +41 22 791 94 60

Africa Liaison E-mail: mazuwa.banda@tss-twg.be

Ms. Caroline Cederlof Tel: +41 22 791 95 53

Health Economist E-mail: caroline.cederlof@tss-twg.be

Ms. Kathy Ward Tel: +41 22 791 96 04

E-mail: <u>kathy.ward@tss-twg.be</u>

Dr. Churnrurtai Kanchanachitra Tel: +41 22 791 9453

Technical Review Process Officer/ Asia-Pacific Liaison E-mail: churnrurtaik@tss-twg.be

Ms. Ginevra Letizia Tel: +41 22 791 94 54

NGO & Civil Society Liaison E-mail: ginevra.letizia@tss-twg.be

Mr. Willis Ritter Tel: +41 22 791 95 49

Legal Adviser E-mail: willis.ritter@tss-twg.be

Mr. Hernan Rosenberg Tel: +41 22 791 96 00

Team Leader, Proposal Process E-mail: <u>hernan.Rosenberg@tss-twg.be</u>

Ms. Dianne Stewart Tel: +41 22 791 94 46

Executive Assistant E-mail: dianne.stewart@tss-twg.be

Dr. Yoshiko Saito Tel: +41 22 791 94 50

M& Officer/ Asia-Eastern Europe Liaison E-mail: yoshiko.saito@tss-twg.be

Mr. Guido Torelli Tel: +41 22 791 94 58

Finance & Operations Manager E-mail: guido.torelli@tss-twg.be

Dr. Nemora Tregnago Tel: +41 22 791 94 51

Latin America/Carrabean Liaison E-mail: nemora.tregnago@tss-twg.be

Ms. Laurence Vercammen Tel: +41 22 791 95 09

Focal Point for Communication to the Board E-mail: laurence.vercammen@tss-twg.be

Ms. Melanie Zipperer Tel: +41 22 791 94 56

Communications Officer E-mail: melanie.zipperer@tss-twg.be

Mr. Ambi Sundaram E-mail: sundaramr@who.ch

WHO Focal Point

Mr. Bertil Lindblad E-mail: <u>blindblad@unicef.org</u>

Mr. Macharia Kamau E-mail: macharia.kamau@undp.org

Dr. Eddie Mukooyo E-mail: emukooyo@hotmail.com

Ms. Jenny Askfelt E-mail: jenny.askfelt@tss-twg.be

Consultant

Mr. Pascal Bijleveld E-mail: pascal.bijleveld@tss-twg.be

Consultant

Mr. Ragnar Hellenius E-mail: ragnar.hellenius@tss-twg.be

Consultant

Mr. Anil Soni E-mail: anil.soni@tss-twg.be

Consultant

Mr. Bernd Uhe E-mail: bernd.uhe@tss-twg.be

Consultant

Technical Review Panel

Mr. Michel Kazatchkine Tel: +33 1 539 46023

Director, National Agency for AIDS Research, France E-mail: <u>michel.kazatchkine@anrs.fr</u>

Dr. Alex Coutinho
Tel: + 256 77 767 638 or 77 767637
Chief Executive Officer
E-mail: dirtaso@infocom.co.ug

The AIDS Support Organization, Uganda